
Summons 
and

Agenda
Monday 19 March 2018

Managing Director
9 MARCH 2018



This page is intentionally left blank



Civic Centre, Home Gardens, Dartford, Kent, DA1 1DR

To: All Members of the Dartford Borough Council

A meeting of the Council will be held on:

Date: Monday 19 March 2018
Time: 7.00 pm
Venue: Civic Centre, Dartford

The Agenda is set out below:

A G E N D A 
1. Prayers: Reverend Kenneth Clark 

2. Apologies for Absence 

To receive apologies for absence 

3. Declarations of Interest 

To receive declarations of interest from Members including the 
terms(s) of the Grant of Dispensation (if any) by the Audit Board 
or Managing Director. 

4. Minutes (Pages 1 - 22)

To approve as a correct record the minutes of the Council 
meetings held on the following dates:

11 December 2017
26 February 2018 (Budget meeting) 

5. Mayor's Announcements 

To receive announcements from the Mayor. 

6. Leader's Announcements 

To receive announcements from the Leader of the Council 



7. Questions from Political Group Leaders 

To consider any questions (from the Political Group Leaders) to 
the Leader/Cabinet submitted in accordance with Standing Order 
14. 

8. Motions 

To consider any Motions submitted in accordance with Standing 
Order 10. 

9. Urgent Items 

The Mayor will announce her decision as to whether there are 
any urgent items. 

To consider any reports to the General Assembly of Council by other Committees, Boards, 
Panels and Officers.

10. References from other Committees (if any) 

11. Data Protection Officer Appointment (Pages 23 - 30)

To consider the appointment of the Head of Legal Services as 
the Council’s Data Protection Officer and to report on 
preparations for the introduction of the General Data Protection 
Regulations. 

12. Reserved Minutes (Pages 31 - 50)

To consider any of the minutes of the following Cabinet meetings 
reserved in accordance with Standing Order 16;

(a) for full debate by Political Groups on the Council;
(b) by Ward Members. 

Cabinet

7 December 2017
25 January 2018 

Graham Harris
Managing Director



1

CHAIRMAN’S 
INITIALS

DARTFORD BOROUGH COUNCIL

GENERAL ASSEMBLY OF THE COUNCIL

MINUTES of the proceedings of the meeting of the General Assembly of the Council 
held on Monday 11 December 2017.

PRESENT:

The Mayor Councillor R M Currans
The Deputy Mayor Councillor D J Mote

Councillor Mrs A D Allen, MBE
Councillor I D Armitt JP
Councillor A Bardoe
Councillor S H Brown
Councillor J Burrell
Councillor L A Canham
Councillor P F Coleman
Councillor P Cutler
Councillor M J Davis
Councillor B Garden
Councillor D A Hammock
Councillor J A Hayes
Councillor J S Hawkes
Councillor D E Hunnisett
Councillor S R Jarnell
Councillor J Jones
Councillor Dr B K Kaini
Councillor K M Kelly
Councillor M B Kelly

Councillor P Kelly
Councillor J A Kite, MBE
Councillor E J Lampkin
Councillor R Lees
Councillor M A Maddison
Councillor T A Maddison
Councillor J M Ozog
Councillor Mrs J A Ozog
Councillor D Page
Councillor R S L Perfitt
Councillor M I Peters
Councillor D J Reynolds
Councillor L J Reynolds
Councillor A S Sandhu, MBE
Councillor Mrs R F Storey
Councillor D Swinerd
Councillor Mrs P A Thurlow
Councillor R J Wells

ABSENT:

Councillor A R Lloyd
Councillor C S McLean
Councillor B E Read
Councillor Mrs R L Shanks
Councillor C J Shippam

60. PRAYERS: REVEREND KENNETH CLARK 

The Mayor’s Chaplain led the Council in prayers.



CHAIRMAN’S 
INITIALS

61. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

Apologies for absence were submitted on behalf of Councillors Lloyd, 
McLean, Read, Shanks and Shippam.  An apology for lateness was submitted 
on behalf of Councillor Jarnell who subsequently joined the meeting. 

62. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

The Mayor informed Members that the Managing Director had exercised his 
delegated authority, in consultation with the Monitoring Officer, to grant a 
dispensation to all Parish/Town Councillors to speak and vote on Agenda item 
13 (Financial Contributions to Parish and Town Councils 2018/19) because 
otherwise so many members of the Council would have had a prejudicial 
interest in the matter that it would impede the transaction of business.

Councillor Armitt also declared a prejudicial interest in agenda item 13 as he 
is employed as the Parish Clerk of Wilmington Parish Council.

63. MINUTES 

RESOLVED:

That the minutes of the meeting of the General Assembly of the Council held 
on 20 November 2017 be agreed as an accurate record.

The Leader of the Swanscombe and Greenhithe Resident’s Association 
provided clarification on his comments recorded in the minutes of the General 
Assembly of the Council held on 30 November 2017. The minute read 
“However there were some aspects that he did not support such as the 
splitting up of Swanscombe and Knockhall which had strong community ties.” 
He felt that this sentence (contained towards the bottom of page 4) was 
slightly misleading and asked for the minutes to be amended by replacing that 
sentence as follows: “However there were some aspects that he found 
strange and did not support such as the removal of Swanscombe Marshes  
from Swanscombe ward and the division of Knockhall and Greenhithe which 
had longstanding historic community ties. He was unconvinced by the 
rationale behind this and did not think that it was in the best interests of the 
local community.”

RESOLVED:

That the minutes of the meeting of the General Assembly of the Council held 
on 30 November 2017, as amended, be agreed as an accurate record.  

64. MAYOR'S ANNOUNCEMENTS 

The Mayor did not make any announcements.

65. LEADER'S ANNOUNCEMENTS 

The Leader of the Council did not make any announcements.



GENERAL ASSEMBLY OF THE COUNCIL

MONDAY 11 DECEMBER 2017

3

66. QUESTIONS FROM POLITICAL GROUP LEADERS 

The following question was submitted by the Shadow Leader of the Council:

"Does the Leader of the Council agree with the view of Paul Carter, or the 
view of Gareth Johnson regarding Kent County Council plans to cut subsidies 
to bus services, including those services that provide a vital lifeline to 
communities in Dartford?"

In accordance with Standing Order 14 the question and answer, including a 
supplementary question and answer, are recorded in a book kept for this 
purpose in the Members’ Area.

67. MOTIONS 

There were no motions.

68. URGENT ITEMS 

There were no urgent items.

69. COUNCIL IN COMMITTEE 

It was moved by Councillor R M Currans, seconded by Councillor J A Kite and

RESOLVED:

That in accordance with Standing Order 11 (13) the General Assembly of the 
Council go into Committee and the rules of Procedures for Committees do 
apply.

THE LEADER OF THE COUNCIL, COUNCILLOR J A KITE MBE, IN THE 
CHAIR

70. REFERENCES FROM OTHER COMMITTEES (IF ANY) 

There were no references from other committees.

71. LOCAL SCHEME OF SUPPORT FOR COUNCIL TAX 2018/19 

Members were informed that for each new financial year the Council was 
required to consider whether to confirm or revise its existing Council Tax 
Reduction Scheme (CTRS). It was proposed that the existing scheme for 
2017/18 should be rolled forward with a minor amendment in respect of the 
Minimum Income Floor. An unintended consequence of the Minimum Income 
Floor was that it disproportionately penalises disabled self-employed 
applicants and/or their partners. In order to eliminate this unfairness, it was 
proposed to make self-employed applicants and/or their self-employed partner 
exempt from the Minimum Income Floor if they are in receipt of the Personal 



CHAIRMAN’S 
INITIALS

Independence Payment (standard or enhanced rate of the daily living 
component) or Disability Living Allowance (middle or high rate of the care 
component) or Armed Forces Independence Payment. This amendment 
would be financially beneficial to those affected whilst the overall financial 
impact on the cost of the CTRS would be minimal. It was estimated that only 
one claimant would be affected by this proposed change.

RESOLVED:

That the current Council Tax Reduction Scheme be amended as follows and 
adopted to take effect from 1 April 2018:

 That a self-employed applicant, and/or his/her self-employed partner, 
who is in receipt of the Personal Independence Payment (standard or 
enhanced rate of the daily living component) or Disability Living 
Allowance (middle or high rate of the care component) or Armed 
Forces Independent Payment, be made exempt from the Minimum 
Income Floor. 

72. SETTING THE COUNCIL TAX BASE FOR 2018/19 

The Council was asked to determine the tax base for the Borough for 
2018/19, including those parts relating to Parishes, in accordance with section 
35 of the Local Government Finance Act 1992.

RESOLVED:

That, subject to the matters contained in the report and in accordance with the 
Local Authorities (Calculation of Tax Base) Regulations 2012 and on the basis 
of the detailed calculations in Appendix A to the report, the amount calculated 
by the Dartford Borough Council as its tax base for the year 2018/19 shall be:

 

For the whole of Dartford Borough: 36,685.06

For parts of Dartford Borough:

Bean Parish 558.58
Darenth Parish 1,534.36
Longfield and New Barn Parish 2,498.05
Southfleet Parish 624.68
Stone Parish 4,221.65
Sutton-at-Hone and Hawley Parish 1,467.18
Swanscombe and Greenhithe Town 5,122.94
Wilmington Parish 2,971.02

73. FINANCIAL CONTRIBUTIONS TO PARISH AND TOWN COUNCILS 
2018/19 

The General Assembly of the Council agreed the level of financial 
contributions to be paid to Parish Councils and to Swanscombe and 



GENERAL ASSEMBLY OF THE COUNCIL

MONDAY 11 DECEMBER 2017

5

Greenhithe Town Council for 2018/19 by way of section 136 funding, through 
the Capacity Building Fund and by way of contributions to compensate for lost 
council tax income in local areas from the Council Tax Support scheme.

RESOLVED: 

To note that the proposed contributions agreed by the Cabinet on 7 
December 2017 listed in the report will be part of the overall budget subject to 
formal approval by the General Assembly of the Council on 26th February 
2018.

74. REMAKING OF HACKNEY CARRIAGE BYELAWS 

The General Assembly of the Council was asked to approve the remaking of 
the Hackney Carriage Byelaws for submission to the Department for 
Transport for onward transmission to the Secretary of State for confirmation.

RESOLVED:

That the Hackney Carriage Byelaws contained in Appendix A to the report be 
remade and that the Head of Legal Services be authorised to execute the 
byelaws for onward transmission to the Department for Transport for 
confirmation by the Secretary of State.

75. RE-CONVENING OF THE GENERAL ASSEMBLY OF THE COUNCIL 

It was moved by Councillor J A Kite, seconded by Councillor P F Coleman 
and

RESOLVED:

That in accordance with Standing Order 11 (14) the General Assembly of the 
Council now re-convene.

THE MAYOR, COUNCILLOR R M CURRANS IN THE CHAIR

76. RESERVED MINUTES 

The Mayor advised Members that the Shadow Leader had reserved Cabinet 
minute 61, Refuse Collection and Street Cleansing, from the meeting held on 
2nd November 2017 for debate.

The Shadow Leader of the Council said that he had reserved this minute for 
debate as he considered that it was important to discuss the consideration of 
the Refuse Collection and Street Cleansing Contract that had taken place at 
the Cabinet meeting on 2nd November and at the Cabinet Advisory Panel B 
meeting on 30th October and how this related to the “Big Bin 3” public 
consultation. It was important to establish what the options were for future 
refuse collections and what people were actually being asked to vote on as it 
was unclear whether this was purely a consultation exercise or a binding vote. 



CHAIRMAN’S 
INITIALS

He said that the CAP B meeting had been told that there would be a 
consultation but that this had been rushed through and poorly constructed 
with an unwieldy introduction, muddy wording and no clear financial 
information for residents. The consultation was taking place over the 
Christmas holiday period in contravention of the recommendations contained 
in the Council’s Consultation and Public Engagement Strategy. He said that 
residents he had spoken to believed that they were being asked what type of 
service they wanted yet the email sent out referred only to residents “shaping” 
the future service. He wanted to know whether residents were being 
consulted or being allowed a vote to determine which options were contained 
in the new contract for refuse collection and recycling. If so was there a 
baseline for the minimum number of votes required for the vote to be binding 
upon the Council? He said that the report to CAP B and the Cabinet talked 
about only two options, including the Nominal Optimal Option (NOM) that had 
already been accepted by Tonbridge & Malling and Tunbridge Wells Borough 
Council’s, the two Borough’s that the Council was proposing to co-operate 
with as part of a joint tendering process.  He noted that the consultation 
presented three options to residents rather than the two previously outlined to 
Members. He repeated that the consultation was being rushed and he felt that 
this was being carried out in order to seek resident’s endorsement of 
proposals which reneged on the Conservative’s 2015 manifesto promises 
about maintaining weekly refuse collection services.

The Deputy Shadow Leader of the Council stated that the consultation was 
flawed and that a number of points considered by the CAP B and Cabinet 
meetings were not covered. He re-iterated that Members had only discussed 
two options rather than three. He said that the report had provided some 
financial implications but this was missing in the consultation documents and 
said that the consultation breached many of the principles set out in the 
Council’s Communications and Engagement Strategy including the 
requirement allow sufficient time for the submission of responses. He asked 
whether the Leader of the Council would give an undertaking that he would 
publish the results of the consultation?

A Member asked for clarification as to whether the exercise was a 
consultation or a vote. Another Member said that at the CAP B meeting 
Members had been told that the Cabinet would be asked to give the Strategic 
Director (External Services) delegated authority to re-tender the contract and 
that as part of this the Council would be obtaining more information about 
tendering and financial information but there had been no information on the 
consultation process. He asked how many people needed to vote in order to 
make a binding decision and noted that it was possible for people to vote 
more than once. He also said that there was no financial information in the 
consultation document or details of how much money could be saved under 
the options and how much of this could be used to fund other services. He 
also pointed out that the public had not been told that the Council was looking 
at a joint procurement with two other authorities who were pursuing the NOM 
option. He said that the consultation had been rushed through for political 
reasons and that the consultation should have focussed more on reducing the 
impact of the Council’s services on the environment.

Another Member said that he had been contacted by residents who were 
happy to be given the opportunity to vote on options for the future service.



GENERAL ASSEMBLY OF THE COUNCIL

MONDAY 11 DECEMBER 2017

7

The Leader of the Council said that since his group took office the Council 
had listened to residents and consulted them on important decisions. The 
current consultation was one such occasion and the feedback had been 
positive and nobody had said that the consultation was confusing or shoddy. 
This was about giving residents a chance to say what kind of service they 
wanted moving forward. The consultation was over the two options previously 
reported to Members along with a derivative of one of the options. As to the 
timing of the consultation, the Christmas period was actually a good 
opportunity as this was a time when the services were under peak demand 
and pressure. This was a real opportunity and no decisions had been made. 
Residents had been consulted on three options, the status quo, the NOM 
option and another derivative of that option. There was no question of 
attempting to seek legitimacy for breaking a manifesto commitment as any 
such commitment could only be made for the duration of the current term of 
office and the new contract would not begin until after the next local 
government elections. The level of any savings would depend upon the 
service option selected and how these would be spent would be determined 
by whichever administration held office after May 2019. It was true to say that 
the Council did not usually receive a large response to consultations but this 
was a reflection of the fact that local residents trusted the Council to make the 
right decisions. The Leader said that he was committed to making a decision 
which met the wishes of local people. In terms of environmental responsibility 
the real issue was not the recycling rate but the amount of waste heading for 
landfill which in the case of Dartford was less than 0.5%.         

The meeting closed at 7.46 pm

MAYOR





1

CHAIRMAN’S 
INITIALS

DARTFORD BOROUGH COUNCIL

GENERAL ASSEMBLY OF THE COUNCIL (BUDGET)

MINUTES of the proceedings of the meeting of the General Assembly of the Council 
(Budget) held on Monday 26 February 2018.

PRESENT:

The Mayor Councillor R M Currans
The Deputy Mayor Councillor D J Mote

Councillor Mrs A D Allen, MBE
Councillor I D Armitt JP
Councillor A Bardoe
Councillor S H Brown
Councillor J Burrell
Councillor L A Canham
Councillor Paul Cutler
Councillor M J Davis
Councillor B Garden
Councillor D A Hammock
Councillor J S Hawkes
Councillor J A Hayes
Councillor D E Hunnisett
Councillor S R Jarnell
Councillor J Jones
Councillor Dr B K Kaini
Councillor K M Kelly
Councillor M B Kelly

Councillor P Kelly
Councillor J A Kite, MBE
Councillor E J Lampkin
Councillor R Lees
Councillor A R Lloyd
Councillor M A Maddison
Councillor T A Maddison
Councillor C S McLean
Councillor J M Ozog
Councillor D Page
Councillor M I Peters
Councillor B E Read
Councillor D J Reynolds
Councillor L J Reynolds
Councillor A S Sandhu, MBE
Councillor Mrs R L Shanks
Councillor Mrs R F Storey
Councillor D Swinerd
Councillor R J Wells

ABSENT:

Councillor P F Coleman
Councillor Mrs J A Ozog
Councillor R S L Perfitt
Councillor C J Shippam
Councillor Mrs P A Thurlow

77. PRAYERS: REVEREND CLARK 

The Mayors Chaplain led the Council in prayer.



CHAIRMAN’S 
INITIALS

78. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

The Managing Director declared a personal interest on behalf of all Officers 
present at the meeting in staffing matters referred to in Agenda item 6, 
Revenue and Capital Budgets 2018/2019.

It was noted that the Managing Director in the exercise of his delegated 
authority, in consultation with the Monitoring Officer, had granted a 
dispensation to all Councillors to speak and vote on Agenda item 6, Revenue 
and Capital Budgets 2018/19, in respect of their receipt of Members’ 
Allowances paid by the Council on the ground that without the dispensation, 
the number of persons prohibited from participating in the discussion and 
voting on Members’ Allowances would be so great a proportion of the body 
transacting the business as to impede the transaction of business (see 
agenda item 6).

Councillor I D Armitt declared a disclosable pecuniary interest in 
Appendices J(i),(ii) and (iii) of Agenda item 6 as he is an employee of 
Wilmington Parish Council. 

Councillor J Burrell declared a prejudicial interest in Agenda item 6 as he is 
a trustee of the Dartford Citizens Advice Bureau which receives 
grants/funding from the Council.

Councillor P Kelly declared a prejudicial interest in Agenda item 6 as he is a 
trustee and Chairman of the Unit Management Committee of the Dartford & 
Crayford Sea Cadets who receive grants/funding from the Council.

Councillor J A Kite MBE declared a prejudicial interest in Agenda item 6 as 
he is a director of Dartford Football Club which receives grant funding from 
the Council. 

Councillor R Lees declared a prejudicial interest in Agenda item 6 as he is a 
trustee of Dartford Citizens Advice Bureau which receives grants/funding from 
the Council and also as a trustee of Greenhithe Community Association which 
is a tenant of the Council and receives grants/funding from the Council.

Councillor D J Reynolds declared a disclosable pecuniary interest in 
Agenda item 6 as his partner is an employee of Dartford Borough Council. 

Councillor A S Sandhu MBE declared a prejudicial interest in Agenda item 6 
as he is a trustee of the Kent People’s Trust and as Vice-President of Dartford 
Valley Rugby Football Club as they receive grants/funding from the Council.

 

79. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

Apologies for absence were submitted on behalf of Councillors P F Coleman, 
J A Ozog, R S L Perfitt, C J Shippam and Mrs P A Thurlow.



GENERAL ASSEMBLY OF THE COUNCIL (BUDGET)

MONDAY 26 FEBRUARY 2018

3

80. MAYOR'S ANNOUNCEMENTS 

The Mayor reminded Member’s about forthcoming events in support of her 
chosen charities. Members were invited to support the Mayor’s afternoon tea 
at the Hilton DoubleTree Hotel (Dartford Bridge) on 4th March, the Indoor 
Bowls at Stone Lodge Bowls Centre on 20th April and the Dinner Dance at 
Princes Park on 21st April.

81. URGENT ITEMS 

There were no urgent items.

82. REVENUE AND CAPITAL BUDGETS 2018/19 

The General Assembly of the Council considered a report which set out the 
Council’s capital and revenue budgets for 2018/19. The report, which included 
the revenue and capital estimates, identified the level of precepts for Kent 
County Council, the Kent Police and Crime Commissioner, Kent Fire and 
Rescue and the Town and Parish Councils within the Borough. 

Members were asked to set the level of expenditure for Dartford Borough 
Council Capital and Revenue Budgets for 2018/19, to approve the level of 
rents chargeable for Housing Revenue Account dwellings for 2018/19, to 
agree the level of Council Tax for Dartford Borough in its parished and 
unparished areas, and to determine sundry related matters. Members were 
also asked to approve the Council’s Pay Policy Statement. 

The Leader of the Council introduced the budget report and congratulated 
officers and the senior management team for their diligent financial 
management and for their hard work in preparing the budget. He also thanked 
Councillors Shippam and Lloyd for their support in managing the Council’s 
finances and in developing the budget. He contrasted the strong financial 
performance of Dartford with other boroughs that were struggling to maintain 
services and balance budgets and pointed out that Dartford had no such 
difficulties having risen to the challenge of identifying savings and revenue to 
ensure the delivery of core services whilst balancing the books. He pointed 
out that Dartford had seen no cuts or reductions in core services and had 
been able to freeze Council tax levels in 7 of the last 8 years. However he felt 
that the people of Dartford valued the services that they received and would 
understand that these had to be paid for and it was only right to make clear 
that this would require an increase in Council tax for 2018/19. It was proposed 
to increase Council tax by 2.9%, the equivalent of another 9 1/2p per week. 
This decision had not been taken lightly but was considered to be fair and 
necessary. He quoted examples of the Council’s commitment to the 
community and to ensure that everybody had access to services and events, 
the Council’s measures to deal with homelessness, the delivery of affordable 
homes where the Council had delivered 239 homes during the last year, the 
highest total of any authority in Kent, and improvements to local facilities.    
The Council had established fair and decent policies which ensured that 
nobody should feel priced-out of the community and that there was a 



CHAIRMAN’S 
INITIALS

commitment to action and providing services to real people and people in real 
need. In terms of capital spending the budget promised better facilities for 
Dartford families and improvement to the local environment. He felt that the 
budget continued to cement Dartford’s reputation as a well-run, prudent 
authority which punched above its weight and commended the budget to the 
Council and proposed its adoption.   

The motion was seconded by Councillor A R Lloyd.

In response the Shadow Leader of the Council suggested that the 
Administration was not listening to the people of Dartford and that the recent 
budget consultation had elicited no responses because of the way that it had 
been carried out. He suggested that local people were being taken for granted 
and that the budget had nothing to say on big local issues such as affordable 
housing and air quality. He said that the budget contained no vision simply 
providing status quo. The proposed increase in Council tax was the maximum 
allowable and would mean that the average Dartford resident was £80 per 
week worse off and that, as a regressive tax, the increase would affect the 
poorest local people disproportionately harder. He said that the budget made 
the wrong choices and focussed on the wrong priorities, contained no 
additional investment in services such as waste collection and that new 
contracts would gift £4.3million of public money to private companies. The 
proposed budget was not getting the basics right and he said that the Labour 
group would not be proposing detailed amendments to the budget as he 
considered it to be fundamentally flawed and that a Labour run Council, if 
elected, would deliver a very different budget which would deliver vision and 
opportunity. He welcomed the commitment towards the “living wage” and said 
that a Labour run Council would seek full accreditation as a “living wage 
employer”.

Other Members drew attention to the cuts to local government funding from 
Central Government which they said was putting unfair pressure on local 
authorities to raise Council tax and called upon the Council to lobby for 
funding and to look at examples of innovative practices elsewhere. Another 
Member pointed out that whilst funding from direct government grant had 
reduced the amount of funding raised through channels such as the new 
homes bonus and business rate retention had increased and because of this 
and prudent financial management the Council had been able to protect core 
services.  

The Leader of the Council responded to comments on the proposed budget 
and suggested that the Shadow Leader of the Council was “playing to the 
gallery” rather than offering any constructive comments or observations on the 
budget. The Council was accused of making cuts but these could not be 
identified. The Leader cited the Council’s performance in providing 239 
affordable homes during the past year with more to come and the outstanding 
waste collection service provided over the Christmas break despite a 50% 
increase in the volume of waste for collection during that time. He said that in 
the face of unfair criticism of the waste collection service on social media he 
had written to all of the waste collection operatives to thank them for their 
outstanding work. The Leader also announced that residents had responded 
to the latest “Big Bin vote” with overwhelming support for retaining weekly bin 
collections going forward. He urged Member’s to support the budget.       



GENERAL ASSEMBLY OF THE COUNCIL (BUDGET)

MONDAY 26 FEBRUARY 2018

5

The recommendations contained in the budget report were then voted for en-
bloc by recorded vote as follows:

FOR AGAINST
Councillor Mrs A D Allen, MBE
Councillor I D Armitt
Councillor A Bardoe
Councillor S H Brown
Councillor J Burrell
Councillor L A Canham
Councillor Paul Cutler
Councillor M J Davis
Councillor B Garden
Councillor D A Hammock
Councillor J A Hayes
Councillor D E Hunnisett
Councillor S R Jarnell
Councillor K M Kelly
Councillor M B Kelly
Councillor J A Kite, MBE
Councillor E J Lampkin
Councillor R Lees
Councillor A R Lloyd
Councillor C S McLean
Councillor J M Ozog
Councillor Mrs M I Peters
Councillor B E Read
Councillor D J Reynolds
Councillor L J Reynolds
Councillor A S Sandhu, MBE
Councillor R L Shanks
Councillor Mrs R F Storey
Councillor D Swinerd
Councillor R J Wells
The Deputy Mayor, Councillor  D J 
Mote
The Mayor, Councillor R M Currans

Councillor J S Hawkes
Councillor J Jones
Councillor Dr B K Kaini 
Councillor P Kelly
Councillor M Maddison
Councillor T Maddison
Councillor D Page

TOTAL:  FOR 32 AGAINST 7
 
The motion was carried.

RESOLVED:

1. That the probable outturn and overall financial position for 2017/18, as 
set out in Section 6 of this report, be noted.



CHAIRMAN’S 
INITIALS

2. That, in the light of the probable outturn of the General Fund for 
2017/18, the estimated General Fund balance of £3m at 31 March 
2018 be noted, as set out in paragraph 7.6.1 of this report.

3. That the main changes to the General Fund Budget, as set out in 
Appendix A (ii) to the report, be noted.

4. That the Council Tax requirement of £6,339,178 for 2018/19, as set out 
in Appendix B (i) to the report, be approved.

 
5. That the Pay Policy Statement 2018/19, at Appendix P to the report as 

amended in the tabled errata sheet, be approved.

6. That an increase of 2% be applied to all salary levels excluding 
protected pay.

7. That a 2% increase be applied to Members’ and Mayoral allowances 
and other relevant allowances for 2018/2019.

 
8. That the level of Mayoral allowances be based on a standard rate 

income tax payer, and this be adjusted to reflect individual tax 
circumstances, as required.

9. That it be noted that the Managing Director is given delegated authority 
to agree fees payable for elections as outlined in the Pay Policy 
Statement at Appendix P to the report. 

10. That the fees and charges as set out in Appendix B (ii) to the report 
and in the tabled errata sheet, be noted with effect from 1 April 2018. 

11. That it be noted that the Managing Director has delegated authority to 
determine individual sums to be met from the Identified Initiative 
Reserve in accordance with the agreed general purpose for which it 
was established.

12. That it be noted that the Managing Director has delegated authority, in 
consultation with the Leader, to determine any expenditure funded from 
the New Homes Bonus.

13. That the Community Grants budget, as set out in Appendix B (iii) to the 
report, be noted.

14. That the overall Housing Revenue Account Budget, at Appendix C (ii) 
to the report, be approved. 

15. That it be noted that the rent charges relating to Housing Revenue 
Account properties will be reduced by 1% in line with government 
regulations. 

16. That the fees and charges relating to Housing Revenue Account 
properties, as set out in Appendix C (iii) to the report be noted 



GENERAL ASSEMBLY OF THE COUNCIL (BUDGET)

MONDAY 26 FEBRUARY 2018

7

17. That the 2.5% increase in rent chargeable for pitches at Claywood 
Lane Caravan Site, Bean be noted.

18. That the Corporate Property Maintenance and Improvement 
Programme be noted, as set out in Appendix E to the report.

19. That the overall Capital Programme and budget for 2018/19 to 2020/21 
be agreed and the detail noted as set out in Appendices D (i) and D (ii) 
to the report.

20. That the Medium Term Financial Plan shown at Appendix B (iv) to the 
report be noted.

21. That the Treasury Management Strategy Statement shown at Appendix 
D (iv) to the report, and the Prudential Indicators shown at Appendix 
D(iii) to the report, be approved, and that the Managing Director be 
given delegated authority to borrow for capital investment purposes, in 
accordance with the Treasury Management Strategy, should it be in 
the interest of the Council to do so.

22. That it be noted that the Managing Director is authorised to charge 
such sums which are currently anticipated to be met from revenue, 
balances or reserves, or capital accounts, to other accounts, as is 
deemed to be in the interest of the authority. 

23. That the budget amendment rules for 2018/19, as set out in Appendix 
G to the report, be agreed.

24. That the special expense General Fund budget (parish precepts) as set 
out in Appendix J(i) to the report, totalling £1,226,423 be noted.

25. That the requirement of major preceptors, as detailed in Appendix J(i) 
to this report, be noted.

26. That the CIPFA statement on the role of the Chief Financial Officer, 
reproduced as Appendix N to the report, be noted.

27. That the financial threshold for the definition of a key decision, in 
accordance with Article 13.03(b) of the Constitution, be set at 
£500,000. 

28. That it be noted that, at its meeting on 12 December 2017, the General 
Assembly of the Council calculated the following amounts as its 
Council Tax Base for the year 2018/19 in accordance with regulations 
made under Section 31 B(3) of the Local Government Finance Act 
1992 as amended (the Act):

(a) 36,685.06 being the Council Tax Base for 2018/2019, for the 
whole Council area.

and



CHAIRMAN’S 
INITIALS

(b) the aggregate of the amounts for dwellings in those parts of its 
area to which a Parish precept relates, as follows:

Bean Parish    558.58
Darenth Parish 1,534.36
Longfield and New Barn Parish 2,498.05
Southfleet Parish    624.68
Stone Parish 4,221.65
Sutton-at-Hone and Hawley Parish 1,467.18
Swanscombe and Greenhithe Town 5,122.94
Wilmington Parish 2,971.02

        

29. That the following amounts now be calculated by the Council for the 
year 2018/19 in accordance with Sections 31 to 36 of the Local 
Government Finance Act 1992, as amended:-

(a)  53,324,361 being the aggregate of the amounts which 
the Council estimates for the amounts set 
out in Section 31 A (2) of the Act, taking 
into account all precepts issued to it by 
Parish Councils.

(b)  45,758,760 being the aggregate of the amounts which 
the Council estimates for the items set out 
in section 31 A (3) of the Act.

(c)  7,565,601 being the amount by which the aggregate 
at (a) above exceeds the aggregate at (b) 
above, calculated by the Council in 
accordance with sections 31 A (4) of the 
Act as its Council Tax requirement for the 
year.

(d)  206.23 being the amount at (c) above, divided by 
28(a) above, calculated by the Council in 
accordance with section 31 B (1) of the 
Act, as the basic amount of its Council 
Tax for the year (including parish 
precepts)

(e) 1,226,423 being the aggregate amount of all special items, 
i.e. the total of the parish and town council 
precepts, referred to in Section 34(1) of the Local 
Government Finance Act 1992

(f)  172.80 being the amount at (d) above, less the 
result given by dividing the amount at (e) 
above by the amount at 28(a) above, 
calculated by the Council, in accordance 
with Section 34(2) of the Local 



GENERAL ASSEMBLY OF THE COUNCIL (BUDGET)

MONDAY 26 FEBRUARY 2018

9

Government Finance Act 1992, as the 
basic amount of its Council Tax for the 
year for dwellings in those parts of its 
area to which no special item relates

(g) Part of the Borough's area:

£207.43 Bean Parish
£221.33 Darenth Parish
£200.60 Longfield and New Barn Parish
£186.60 Southfleet Parish
£260.29 Stone Parish
£242.80 Sutton-at-Hone and Hawley Parish
£269.26 Swanscombe and Greenhithe Town
£202.54 Wilmington Parish

being the amounts given by adding to the amount at 29(f) 
above to the amounts of the special item or items relating 
to dwellings in those parts of the Council's area mentioned 
above, divided in each case by the amount at 28(b) above, 
calculated by the Council, in accordance with Section 34(3) 
of the Local Government Finance Act 1992, as the basic 
amounts of its Council Tax for the year for dwellings in 
those parts of its area to which one or more special items 
relate.

(h) That the following amounts, given by multiplying the amounts 
at 29(f) and 29(g) above by the number which, in the 
proportion set out in Section 5(1) of the Local Government 
Finance Act 1992, is applicable to dwellings listed in a 
particular valuation band divided by the number which in that 
proportion is applicable to dwellings listed in valuation band 
D, calculated by the Council, in accordance with 
Section 36(1) of the Local Government Finance Act 1992, be 
the amounts to be taken into account for the year in respect 
of categories of dwellings listed in different valuation bands:



CHAIRMAN’S 
INITIALS

Bean Parish

A B C D E F G H
138.29 161.33 184.38 207.43 253.53 299.62 345.72 414.86

Darenth Parish

A B C D E F G H
147.55 172.15 196.74 221.33 270.51 319.70 368.88 442.66

Longfield and New Barn Parish 

A B C D E F G H
133.73 156.02 178.31 200.60 245.18 289.76 334.33 401.20

Southfleet Parish 

A B C D E F G H
124.40 145.13 165.87 186.60 228.07 269.53 311.00 373.20

Stone Parish  

A B C D E F G H
173.53 202.45 231.37 260.29 318.13 375.97 433.82 520.58

Sutton-at-Hone and Hawley Parish

A B C D E F G H
161.87 188.84 215.82 242.80 296.76 350.71 404.67 485.60

Swanscombe and Greenhithe Town 

A B C D E F G H
179.51 209.42 239.34 269.26 329.10 388.93 448.77 538.52

Wilmington Parish     

A B C D E F G H
135.03 157.53 180.04 202.54 247.55 292.56 337.57 405.08

Unparished Parts of the Borough

A B C D E F G H
115.20 134.40 153.60 172.80 211.20 249.60 288.00 345.60



GENERAL ASSEMBLY OF THE COUNCIL (BUDGET)

MONDAY 26 FEBRUARY 2018

11

30. That it be noted that, for the year 2018/19, the major precepting 
authorities have stated the following amounts in precepts issued to the 
Council, in accordance with Section 40 of the Local Government Finance 
Act 1992, for each of the categories of dwellings shown below:-

Precepting Authorities 

Kent County Council – including social care precept

A B C D E F G H
825.12 962.64 1100.16 1237.68 1512.72 1787.76 2062.80 2475.36

Kent Police and Crime Commissioner

A B C D E F G H
112.77 131.56 150.36 169.15 206.74 244.33 281.92 338.30

Kent Fire and Rescue

A B C D E F G H
50.34 58.73 67.12 75.51 92.29 109.07 125.85 151.02

31. That, having calculated the aggregate in each case of the amounts at 
29(h) and 30 above, the Council, in accordance with Section 30(2) of 
the Local Government Finance Act 1992, hereby sets the following 
amounts of Council Tax for the year 2018/19 for each of the categories 
of dwellings shown on the following page.



CHAIRMAN’S 
INITIALS

Bean Parish

A B C D E F G H
1126.52 1314.26 1502.02 1689.77 2065.28 2440.78 2816.29 3379.54

Darenth Parish     

A B C D E F G H
1135.78 1325.08 1514.38 1703.67 2082.26 2460.86 2839.45 3407.34

Longfield and New Barn Parish     

A B C D E F G H
1121.96 1308.95 1495.95 1682.94 2056.93 2430.92 2804.90 3365.88

Southfleet Parish     

A B C D E F G H
1112.63 1298.06 1483.51 1668.94 2039.82 2410.69 2781.57 3337.88

Stone Parish     

A B C D E F G H
1161.76 1355.38 1549.01 1742.63 2129.88 2517.13 2904.39 3485.26

Sutton-at-Hone and Hawley Parish     

A B C D E F G H
1150.10 1341.77 1533.46 1725.14 2108.51 2491.87 2875.24 3450.28

Swanscombe and Greenhithe Town     

A B C D E F G H
1167.74 1362.35 1556.98 1751.60 2140.85 2530.09 2919.34 3503.20

Wilmington Parish     

A B C D E F G H
1123.26 1310.46 1497.68 1684.88 2059.30 2433.72 2808.14 3369.76

Unparished Parts of the Borough

A B C D E F G H
1103.43 1287.33 1471.24 1655.14 2022.95 2390.76 2758.57 3310.28



GENERAL ASSEMBLY OF THE COUNCIL (BUDGET)

MONDAY 26 FEBRUARY 2018

13

The meeting closed at 7.55 pm

MAYOR





GENERAL ASSEMBLY OF THE COUNCIL
19 MARCH 2018

PMKS/Committee/Report to GAC DPO Appointment 1

DATA PROTECTION OFFICER APPOINTMENT

1. Summary

1.1. The General Data Protection Regulation requires all public authorities to 
appoint a Data Protection Officer. This report invites the Council to endorse the 
appointment of the Head of Legal Services as Data Protection Officer.

1.2. The report highlights various provisions of the GDPR and the work being 
undertaken to ensure compliance.

2. RECOMMENDATIONS

2.1 That, for the reasons outlined in the body of the report, the Head of Legal 
Services be appointed the Data Protection Officer. 

2.2 That the provisions of the General Data Protection Regulation and the 
preparatory work to ensure compliance, as detailed in the body of the report, 
be noted.

3. Background and Discussion

3.1 The EU’s General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR) will apply in the UK 
from 25 May 2018 (regardless of Brexit). It replaces all current data 
protection legislation, including the Data Protection Act 1998 (DPA), 
although the data protection principles within the GDPR are similar to those 
in the DPA. 

3.2 Appointment of Data Protection Officer

3.2.1 The GDPR requires all public authorities to appoint a Data Protection 
Officer (DPO). The DPO’s minimum tasks are defined in Article 39 of the 
GDPR and these are:

• to inform and advise the organisation and its employees about their 
obligations to comply with the GDPR and other data protection laws;

 
• to monitor compliance with the GDPR and other data protection laws, 

including managing internal data protection activities, advise on data 
protection impact assessments; train staff and conduct internal audits;

• to be the first point of contact for supervisory authorities and for 
individuals whose data is processed (employees, customers etc.).

3.2.2 Article 38(3) of the GDPR provides that the DPO operates independently 
and is not to be dismissed or penalised for performing their task.  The DPO 
is required to report to the highest management level in the Council. 



GENERAL ASSEMBLY OF THE COUNCIL
19 MARCH 2018

PMKS/Committee/Report to GAC DPO Appointment 2

No instruction must be given to the DPO regarding how to deal with a 
matter, what results should be achieved or whether or not to consult with 
the ICO. As a matter of good practice, reasons for not following the DPO's 
advice should be documented. 

3.2.3 The Article 29 Data Protection Working Party1 advises:

(a) the appointment of a DPO must be based on personal and professional 
qualities, with particular attention to expert knowledge of data protection - 
a good understanding of the way the organisation operates is also 
recommended;

(b) the DPO is an integral part of the organisation, making him/her ideally 
placed to ensure compliance - nevertheless, the DPO should be able to 
perform his/her duties independently - the number of assurances 
guaranteeing this independence include:

 the DPO will not receive any instructions regarding the performance of 
his/her duties;

 there should be no conflict of interest between the duties of the DPO 
and his/her other duties and specifically, the DPO should not determine 
the purpose or manner of processing personal data;

 the DPO should have the authority to investigate and have immediate 
access to all personal data and data processing operations and to be 
provided with information in reply to his/her questions.

(c) Importantly, it is the Council and not the DPO personally, which remains 
responsible for compliance with the GDPR, although appointment of and 
adherence to the guidance of the DPO may assist in demonstrating 
compliance with GDPR requirements.

(d) Publication of the DPO’s contact details is required by the GDPR. The 
name of the DPO does not need to be made publicly available but should 
be notified to the ICO and members of staff. Members of the public need 
only to be given sufficient information to enable communications to easily 
reach the DPO e.g. a dedicated email address published on the Council’s 
website.

(e) Conflicts of interest

The DPO role can be allocated to an existing employee as long as the 
professional duties of the employee are compatible with the duties of the 
DPO and do not lead to a conflict of interest.

Although not a requirement under the DPA, the Head of Legal Services is 
acting as DPO and has done so for many years.  Her role to date has been 
to:

1The Article 29 Working Party includes representatives from the data protection authorities of each EU member state. 
It adopts guidelines for complying with the requirements of the GDPR



GENERAL ASSEMBLY OF THE COUNCIL
19 MARCH 2018

PMKS/Committee/Report to GAC DPO Appointment 3

 ensure data protection compliance within the Council and assisting it to 
be accountable in this respect;

 raise awareness about data protection;
 ensure data subjects are informed about their data protection rights;
 advise and recommend on the interpretation or application of the data 

protection legislation;
 handle queries or complaints on data protection related issues;
 co-operate with the ICO when responding to complaints on data 

protection related issues;
 draw the Council’s attention to any failure to comply with data 

protection legislation;
 participate in the Kent wide information governance network in 

producing advice and exchanging views on common issues or 
problems. 

The Head of Legal Services also deals with broader information 
governance duties, including FOI/EIR requests and provides corporate 
oversight of information (including, but not limited to personal information) 
across the Council.

Under the GDPR, the DPO can only perform other duties that are 
compatible with their DPO duties and that do not result in conflicts of 
interest for the DPO.  For the reasons outlined below, the appointment of 
the Head of Legal Services as DPO does not create a conflict of interest 
between the two roles:

1. the implementation of ‘ethical walls’ - the DPO performs the oversight 
and advisory role whilst compliance verification and assessment is 
undertaken by Internal Audit;

2. the DPO has ‘operational independence’ but exercises this in a manner 
consistent with the Council’s agreed strategic direction i.e there is a 
working and practical balance between independence on the one hand 
and involvement in the Council’s business on the other;

3. the Head of Legal Services does not make regular use of any personal 
data and is therefore not deemed to have a direct or personal interest in 
the operations of the Council’s data processing;

4. the Head of Legal Services does not initiate and or represent the 
Council in legal actions relating to data privacy issues before the courts 
as this would call into question her independence as DPO.

3.3 Reporting breaches

3.3.1 Currently, for serious breaches, the ICO can issue a monetary penalty notice 
of up to £500,000. Under the GDPR, this could be up to 20 million euros or 
4% of turnover, whichever is the greater sum.

3.3.2 The GDPR will introduce a duty on the DPO to report certain types of data 
breach to the ICO and in some cases, to the individuals affected.  Also, 
under the GDPR, a breach is more than just the loss of data - inappropriate 



GENERAL ASSEMBLY OF THE COUNCIL
19 MARCH 2018

PMKS/Committee/Report to GAC DPO Appointment 4

access to personal data due to the lack of internal controls is also deemed to 
be a breach.

3.4 Other changes introduced by the GDPR

3.4.1 The GDPR creates some new rights for individuals and strengthens some 
of the rights that currently exist under the DPA. These are:

 the right to be informed
 the right of access
 the right to rectification
 the right to erasure
 the right to restrict processing
 the right to data portability
 the right to object
 rights in relation to automated decision making and profiling.

3.4.2 The GDPR also requires the Council to have comprehensive governance 
measures in place, which have previously only been considered as best 
practice e.g. data privacy impact assessments are now a legal requirement. 
Also, the new legislation introduces the principle of accountability; meaning 
that the Council as data controller must maintain records to show how it is 
complying with the GDPR. 

The Council may be required to demonstrate to the ICO that it is complying 
with the GDPR when processing personal data.

3.5 Notification

3.5.1 Under the DPA, unless an exemption applies (e.g. not using a computer to 
process personal data), data controllers are required to notify the ICO, 
explaining what personal data they collect and what they do with it. They 
are also required to pay the ICO a notification fee, based on their size, of 
either £35 or £500.  These fees are used to fund most of the ICO’s work.

3.5.2 Under the GDPR, there will no longer be a requirement to notify the ICO in 
the same way. However, a provision in the Digital Economy Act 2017 
means it will remain a legal requirement for data controllers to pay the ICO 
a data protection fee. The draft proposal is a three tier system, which will 
differentiate between small and big organisations and also how much 
personal data an organisation is processing. The aim is to keep the system 
as simple as possible, so that organisations will easily be able to categorise 
themselves. The final fees will be approved by Parliament with the 
proposals going live on 1 April 2018.

The ICO advises that payments made during the 2017/18 financial year, 
under the current system, will run for a full year with the new fee becoming 
payable on expiry of the notification. 



GENERAL ASSEMBLY OF THE COUNCIL
19 MARCH 2018

PMKS/Committee/Report to GAC DPO Appointment 5

3.6 Preparing for the GDPR

3.6.1 The appointment of the DPO does not automatically imply full compliance 
with the GDPR. Measures must also be put in place for the GDPR to be 
fully implemented in practice.

3.6.2 Preparations for GDPR involve a review of the Council’s information 
governance practices, policies and procedures, training and awareness 
raising and ensuring the necessary technical IT and information security 
systems are GDPR compliant. 

Following the independent compliance audits of all Departments in October 
2017, a number of tasks are the subject of a detailed project plan, being 
overseen by the Head of Legal Services, comprising.

 a programme of awareness raising and compliance audits;
 documenting personal data held (including considering the reasons for 

its collection and retention and period of retention);
 security and storage of personal data;
 data sharing and transmission arrangements;
 data privacy impact assessments;
 reviewing privacy notices;
 inclusion of new rights into policies;
 amending subject access request procedures;
 reviewing the legal basis for processing (particularly in relation to 

consent and future lack of reliance on ‘legitimate interest’ grounds qua 
public body);

 reviewing data breach procedures;
 ensuring procedures incorporate data protection by design and default;
 reviewing relevant contractual provisions with suppliers who are third 

party data processors with a view to ensuring they are aware of their 
obligations under the GDPR and that any contracts reflect data 
protection principles, particularly around secure transmission, access, 
storage, and subsequent disposal of personal data;

 reviewing information technology systems to ensure that appropriate 
technical and organisational measures are in place to guard against 
unauthorised or unlawful processing of the personal data and/or 
accidental loss, destruction or damage to personal data and 
subsequent disposal of personal data;

 training for all Officers in March and for Members in April 2018.

3.7 Electoral Administration

Electoral Registration Officers and Returning Officers are data controllers 
and process personal data.  As such, these Officers are under an obligation 
to ensure they are compliant with the GDPR. The preparatory work outlined 
in para. 3.6 above covers the electoral administration process.



GENERAL ASSEMBLY OF THE COUNCIL
19 MARCH 2018

PMKS/Committee/Report to GAC DPO Appointment 6

3.8 Members as Data Controllers

3.8.1 Unless an exemption applies, when Members represent residents of their 
ward, they have to register as data controllers in their own right. 

An exemption applies if Members do not use a computer to process 
personal data. 

3.8.2 Although the GDPR does broaden the requirements, particularly in relation 
to demonstrating accountability and transparency, many of the key 
principles of GDPR are the same as those in the DPA. Essentially, if 
Members are compliant with the DPA, then they will be well placed to be 
compliant with the GDPR.

3.8.3 To support Members in meeting their obligations under the GDPR, training 
will be provided in April 2018.  This will focus on compliance with the 
principles of processing personal data and maintaining records of 
Members’ processing activities.  Practical examples will be provided where 
possible. 

The training is mandatory. Being mindful of the pressures on Members’ 
time, the Head of Legal Services will endeavour to make the sessions as 
flexible as possible, to accommodate these time pressures.

3.9 Parish/Town Councils

3.9.1 Parish/Town Councils are required to appoint data protection officers. 
Government has advised NALC that parish/town council clerks can be the 
DPO, but in order to avoid a conflict of interest, the DPO should not 
determine the purpose or manner of processing personal data. Provided 
that a parish/town council is satisfied that a clerk does not do this, then they 
could act as the DPO. However, in small parish/town councils, it may well 
be impossible for such a separation to be implemented and in such a 
situation, the DPO would have to be someone external to the council. 

An enquiry has been made by a parish council about commissioning the 
[Borough] Council’s DPO. This is not a viable option as the appointed DPO 
will be focusing all efforts on ensuring GDPR compliance by the [Borough] 
Council before 25 May 2018. There is also the on-going responsibilities of 
the role, post 25 May, to take into account.

Various other options exist for parish/town councils, including sharing a 
person between parish councils or commissioning organisations which offer 
DPO services. 



GENERAL ASSEMBLY OF THE COUNCIL
19 MARCH 2018

PMKS/Committee/Report to GAC DPO Appointment 7

4. Relationship to the Corporate Plan

The Council has an ongoing commitment to good corporate governance 
which supports effective decision making and an effective governance 
framework.

5. Financial, legal, staffing and other administrative implications and risk 
assessments

Financial Implications None

Legal Implications As discussed in the body of the report

Staffing Implications None

Administrative Implications None 

Risk Assessment Failure to comply with the GDPR could 
expose the Council to a significant fine 

6. Details of Exempt Information Category

Not applicable

7. Appendices

N/A

BACKGROUND PAPERS

Documents consulted Date /
File Ref

Report Author Section 
and

Directorate

Exempt
Information 
Category

Marie Kelly-Stone
(01322) 343634

Legal 
Services

N/A





1

DARTFORD BOROUGH COUNCIL

CABINET

MINUTES of the meeting of the Cabinet held on Thursday 7 December 2017 at 7.00 
pm 

PRESENT: Councillor J A Kite, MBE (Chairman)
Councillor C J Shippam (Vice-Chairman)
Councillor Mrs A D Allen, MBE
Councillor P F Coleman
Councillor A R Lloyd
Councillor Mrs P A Thurlow

71. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

An apology for absence was received from Councillor K M Kelly.

72. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

There were no declarations of interest.

73. CONFIRMATION OF THE MINUTES OF THE MEETING HELD ON 2 
NOVEMBER 2017 

RESOLVED:

That the minutes of the Cabinet meeting held on 2 November 2017 be 
confirmed.

74. URGENT ITEMS 

There were no urgent items.

75. TO RECEIVE THE MINUTES OF THE CABINET ADVISORY PANEL HELD 
ON 4 DECEMBER 2017 

The Cabinet received the minutes of the Cabinet Advisory Panel held on 4 
December 2017 and took note of the Panel’s views throughout the meeting.

76. REFERENCES FROM COMMITTEES 

There were no references from other committees.

77. COMMUNITY INFRASTRUCTURE LEVY: GOVERNANCE AND SPENDING 
REVIEW 

This report set out the progress being made on arrangements for the 
governance of Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) funding and delivery of 
the infrastructure required to support development in Dartford. The report also 
described an indicative five year programme of potential infrastructure 
projects that could be supported by CIL funding and outlined proposals for 
identifying projects and allocating local CIL funding in unparished areas.



CABINET
THURSDAY 7 DECEMBER 2017

2

The Head of Regeneration drew members’ attention to the indicative 5 year 
delivery programme for the infrastructure projects that had been identified by 
the CIL Steering Group as being able to benefit from CIL funding, and said 
that it had been decided that CIL funding for them would not be released in 
the current financial year because they were still being finalised. She also 
noted that the projects would not be fully funded by CIL and said that a further 
report on the chosen projects would be presented to Cabinet for their 
agreement before CIL funding is allocated. She said that the funding available 
was estimated to be approximately £20m over 5 years but added that this was 
dependent on anticipated development projects coming forward.

The Head of Regeneration also noted that the report proposed a way of 
allocating the neighbourhood proportion of CIL funding in unparished areas 
and said that projects could be put forward by community groups and Council 
departments. She also noted the requirement for bidding groups to have a 
constitution and applicable financial governance to ensure probity and that 
they have the necessary experience to effectively manage delivery of their 
project. She also referred to the request that had been made at the Cabinet 
Advisory Panel to allow unparished ward members to submit projects but said 
that, although they were welcome to support projects that had been submitted 
by other groups, they should not be able to submit their own projects since 
they would not have the necessary constitutional and governance 
arrangements required to deliver projects whose value can be up to £50k.

Members then had a detailed discussion on the role of ward members in the 
allocation of CIL funding in unparished areas and felt that it would be 
inappropriate to give ward members in unparished areas powers that are not 
available to ward members in parished areas, where Parish and Town 
Councils would be responsible for the allocation of neighbourhood CIL 
funding. They did however support their involvement during the 
neighbourhood bid assessment process and noted that Members could work 
with community groups to bring projects forward.

At the end of their debate it was agreed that:
 Submitted bids would be assessed by a Panel who would then make 

recommendations to Cabinet.
 In unparished areas, although ward members could not submit bids in 

their own name, they would be encouraged to play a key role in 
supporting bids put forward by constituted community groups or 
Council departments.

 In unparished areas only those projects that have received support 
from all local ward members would be considered by the Panel for 
endorsement.

 All eligible bids, along with the recommendations of the Panel, would 
then be submitted to Cabinet for determination.

 Ineligible bids would not be considered by Cabinet.

Members also agreed that delegated authority be granted to the Head of 
Regeneration, in consultation with the Leader and Deputy Leader, to finalise 



CABINET
THURSDAY 7 DECEMBER 2017

3

the detailed proposals for the identification of projects, and allocation of CIL 
neighbourhood funding, in unparished areas.

The Head of Regeneration noted that a pilot exercise was to be carried out to 
ensure that the process proposed for the distribution of CIL funding in 
unparished areas was sound.

In response to a question the Head of Regeneration confirmed that the 5 year 
delivery programme was a rolling programme which would be reviewed 
regularly and said that there was flexibility to add or remove projects subject 
to Cabinet’s agreement.

The Chairman also asked that it be made clear to Parishes that they should 
consider how they spend their CIL neighbourhood funding carefully as they 
would be expected to contribute some of their allocated neighbourhood 
funding to support the provision of CIL projects supported by the Council in 
their area (e.g. the delivery of a new GP surgery).

RESOLVED:

1. That the projects identified as having potential to be funded by CIL, as 
set out in para 3.7 of the report and the Dartford Infrastructure Delivery 
Plan at Appendix A to the report, be agreed in principle as suitable for 
inclusion in the CIL 5 Year Programme, subject to further investigation, 
development in liaison with partners, and availability of CIL funding.

2. That a final decision on the suitability and agreement to CIL funding for 
each of the identified projects, as well as any further potential projects 
identified, be considered by Cabinet either as part of a subsequent 
annual CIL report in December 2018, or mid-year if there is a need for 
urgency.

3. That Dartford’s CIL Infrastructure Project Assessment Criteria set out in 
Appendix B of the report be agreed.

4. That delegated authority be granted to the Head of Regeneration, in 
consultation with the Leader and Deputy Leader, to finalise the detailed 
proposals for the identification of projects, and allocation of CIL 
neighbourhood funding, in unparished areas.

5. That Dartford’s CIL Annual Report, at Appendix D to the report, be 
agreed and published.

78. STATEMENT OF COMMUNITY INVOLVEMENT (SCI) IN PLANNING 

Following public consultation, a final Statement of Community Involvement 
(SCI) in planning had been produced. The SCI outlined principles that will 
guide local public engagement in planning policy and development 
management. Adherence to Local Plan consultation provisions will be verified 
when the Plans are subject to independent examination.



CABINET
THURSDAY 7 DECEMBER 2017

4

The Head of Regeneration described how the SCI had previously been 
considered by Members in July 2017 and said that this version included 
changes that had been made following consultation. She said that its 
production was a statutory requirement and that it specified how consultations 
with residents and stakeholders should be carried out.

The Chairman referred to the discussions that had taken place at the Cabinet 
Advisory Panel meeting and the suggestion that early public engagement be 
encouraged for smaller applications. The Head of Regeneration said that 
facilitating this for small or householder developments would be challenging 
as the onus is on the developer to initiate public engagement, and the Council 
has no powers to force a developer to engage with the public on 
developments of any size. Although she did also note that failure to pre-
consult with the public could act against a developer if a controversial 
development was being considered for approval.

In response to a question on small/large development classifications the Head 
of Regeneration said that the official definition of a major application was over 
10 homes, but that practically, developments of around 100 homes or less did 
not generally raise issues that would benefit from a public engagement 
exercise in addition to the statutory planning application consultation. During 
further discussion the Head of Regeneration confirmed that the SCI contained 
the community involvement steps which must be followed by the Council 
when preparing Planning Policy, considering a Neighbourhood Plan, and 
when processing planning applications.
.

RESOLVED:

1. That the public consultation undertaken, as set out in Appendix B to the 
report, and the responses received and Officer responses, as set out in 
Appendix C to the report, be noted.

2. That the Borough’s Statement of Community Involvement, attached at 
Appendix A to the report, be adopted.

79. EDC CONSULTATION ON APPLICATION TO VARY THE OUTLINE 
PLANNING PERMISSION AT EASTERN QUARRY 

This report was responding to the re-consultation by the Ebbsfleet 
Development Corporation (EDC) on a planning application to vary condition 3 
of the Eastern Quarry Outline Planning Permission in order to amend the 
disposition of land uses across the site to create a different layout to the 
development.  The report also set out the changes and explained how the 
concerns raised by Cabinet on 25 May 17 had been addressed, and 
recommended that a revised consultation response be made to the EDC.

The Head of Regeneration advised that the arguments put forward by officers 
and other stakeholders had resulted in the plans being changed so that they 



CABINET
THURSDAY 7 DECEMBER 2017

5

now aligned with the original outline planning permission that had been 
approved by Dartford Borough Council.

Members welcomed the work that had been carried out by officers and the 
return to a village based design for the area.

RESOLVED:

1. That, for the following reasons, the Ebbsfleet Development Corporation 
be advised that the Council:

1. Withdraws its previous objection to the s73 application process and 
the changes proposed to the outline planning permission and 
considers that the Section 73 application as revised in November 
2017 is an acceptable amendment to the details approved under 
outline planning permission 03/01134/OUT, as amended by 
12/01451/EQVAR;

2. Has some remaining concerns about the details of the proposal 
and the strategies but which could be resolved or allayed by the 
provision of further information and/or amendment;

3. Reserves its position with regard to the changes proposed to the 
s106 agreement and how this might affect the delivery of the 
development.

2. That, in order to ensure the requirements of the Local Plan are met, 
Officers engage with the Ebbsfleet Development Corporation with 
regard to changes and details of the strategies, the amendments to the  
106 agreement, details of the application, and the conditions and the 
detail of the submission of the Habitats Regulation Assessment.

80. CONSULTATION ON NEW HOMELESSNESS CODE OF GUIDANCE FOR 
LOCAL AUTHORITIES 

This report set out the Council’s proposed response to the Government’s 
consultation on a new Homelessness Code of Guidance for Local Authorities. 

The Strategic Director (External Services) explained how this consultation 
was not considering the homelessness legislation itself but was focusing on 
the associated guidance that had been produced. She said that the response 
that had been prepared indicated that officers were generally satisfied with the 
guidance and understood the information contained within it.

The Chairman referred to the discussion that had taken place at the Cabinet 
Advisory Panel and welcomed the Head of Housing’s intention to provide 
Members with guidance on what to do if faced with someone who is 
homeless. The Strategic Director (External Services) said that the advice 
would be fairly simple but would provide Members with the necessary contact 
numbers in order that homelessness situations may be addressed.



CABINET
THURSDAY 7 DECEMBER 2017

6

Members then discussed the tendency for London Boroughs to place their 
homeless in cheaper temporary accommodation in other areas, which 
resulted in there being a shortage of available accommodation in areas such 
as Dartford for their own homeless people, and asked whether this concern 
could be added to the consultation response. It was also noted how people 
were being housed in inappropriate places where there were few shops and 
entertainment facilities, and limited transport links. The Chairman said that, in 
order to address this, London Boroughs should be required to pay the 
receiving Local Authority the difference between the market rental rates in 
each area. The Strategic Director (External Services) agreed to include this 
area of concern either in a covering letter or within the consultation response 
itself.

RESOLVED:

That the proposed consultation response, as attached at Appendix A to the 
report and amended by the above minute, be approved.

81. CHANGES TO PROVISION OF HR AND PAYROLL SERVICES 

This report sought approval to a change in the provision of the HR and Payroll 
services in order to deliver high quality services, offer value for money, and 
make the best use of resources.

The Strategic Director (Internal Services) explained how the HR and Payroll 
services had been outsourced since January 2015 but said that due to 
ongoing issues with the current service provider it had been proposed that the 
arrangement be terminated with effect from 31 March 2018. She said that the 
report proposed that the HR element be brought back in-house and that Mid 
Kent Shared Services (hosted by Maidstone Borough Council), who 
understand Local Authority payroll requirements, be asked to provide the 
Council’s Payroll Service.

Members discussed the risks and staffing implications of the proposal and it 
was confirmed that, in addition to the 2 current members of staff who already 
support the Council’s HR function, an additional post will have to be created.

RESOLVED:

1. That, for the reasons outlined in the body of the report and exempt 
Appendix A to the report, the Managing Director, be authorised to:

1. bring the Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS) 
administration back in-house with immediate effect, to ensure that 
all pensions’ records are accurate and up-to-date;

2. terminate the current HR and Payroll Services Contract with the 
incumbent service provider, with effect from 31st March 2018;



CABINET
THURSDAY 7 DECEMBER 2017

7

3. bring the HR service back in-house, with effect from 1st April 
2018.

82. KENT AND MEDWAY PLANNING PROTOCOL 

This report explained the purpose and content of the Kent and Medway 
Planning Protocol.  It identified the commitments and actions sought from the 
Council’s Planning Officers, Members, developers and statutory agencies in 
furthering its objectives.

The Head of Regeneration noted how the Protocol aimed to encourage 
collaborative working between all those involved in delivering growth in Kent.

RESOLVED:

That the commitments and actions in the Planning Protocol, as outlined in the 
body of the report, be noted, and that these be supported through the work of 
the Planning Service and the Development Control Board.

83. DARTFORD BROWNFIELD LAND REGISTER 

This report presented the 2017 ‘Brownfield Land Register’ for the Borough. Its 
annual production is now a statutory requirement and this was the first version 
of the Register to be produced. The Register follows new Government 
requirements to set out data confirming which previously developed land is 
available for housing-led development.

The Head of Regeneration noted how the need for the Council to produce a 
Brownfield Land Register was a statutory requirement and said that it was 
down to the Council to decide which sites should be included based on their 
suitability, availability and achievability.

Members discussed the types of site that can be classed as ‘brownfield’ and 
the Head of Regeneration confirmed that it included any land that had 
previously been built on, with the exception of agricultural or forestry 
buildings. She also advised that sites that have been used for quarrying or 
landfill, but had planning conditions which required restoration to their original 
green state, were not classed as ‘brownfield’.

RESOLVED:

1. That Dartford’s Brownfield Land Register be finalised by the Head of 
Regeneration, based on Appendix A to the report, and submitted in the 
required format by the government deadline of 31st December 2017.

2. That the fact that 2017’s Register has zero Part 2 entries be noted.



CABINET
THURSDAY 7 DECEMBER 2017

8

84. LOCAL SCHEME OF SUPPORT FOR COUNCIL TAX 2018/19 

Each financial year, the Council must consider whether to confirm or revise its 
existing Council Tax Reduction Scheme (CTRS). This report set out a 
proposed revision to the existing scheme for 2018/19, which is to be 
implemented with effect from 1 April 2018.

The Strategic Director (Internal Services) drew Members’ attention to the 
proposed minor change to the current year’s scheme and explained how it 
addressed the disproportional impact that the existing scheme was having on 
disabled self-employed applicants and/or their partners.

Members then discussed the budget announcement which allows Councils to 
charge the owners of empty residential properties the full rate of Council Tax 
and hoped that similar measures would be introduced for non-domestic rates 
in order to encourage owners to bring unused empty business properties back 
into use. The Chairman also felt that giving Councils the ability to charge 
Council Tax on properties in developments that have been granted planning 
permission, but are not being built, would accelerate their delivery.

RESOLVED:

That the following recommendation to the General Assembly of the Council be 
approved:

That the current CTRS be amended as follows and adopted to take 
effect from 1 April 2018:

That a self-employed applicant, and/or his/her self-employed 
partner, who is in receipt of the Personal Independence 
Payment (standard or enhanced rate of the daily living 
component) or Disability Living Allowance (middle or high rate of 
the care component) or Armed Forces Independent Payment, 
be made exempt from the Minimum Income Floor.

85. FINANCIAL CONTRIBUTIONS TO PARISH AND TOWN COUNCILS 

This report asked Cabinet to agree the level of financial contributions to be 
paid to parish and town councils in 2018/19.

The Strategic Director (Internal Services) noted that as a 46% reduction in the 
Council’s Revenue Support Grant was anticipated it had been proposed that 
some of this reduction be passed to Parish and Town Councils. She then 
explained that as the overall financial contribution to Parishes was to be 
reduced by 30%, and with the amount being contributed to the Capacity 
Building Fund remaining the same (at £45,000), the other contributions had 
therefore been reduced by 43%.

Members agreed that it was right that the grant cuts being experienced by the 
Borough Council should be shared with Parish and Town Councils and 



CABINET
THURSDAY 7 DECEMBER 2017

9

endorsed the figures that had been proposed. Members hoped that the 
Parishes would work together to ensure that the services that they currently 
provide continue to be delivered.

RESOLVED:

1. That, subject to resolution 2 below, the Council, under the provisions of 
Section 136 of the Local Government Act 1972, make the following 
contributions towards the expenses of parish and town councils’ 
concurrent functions in 2018/19:

£
Bean 888

Darenth 1,952

Longfield 1,633

Stone 5,535

Sutton at Hone and Hawley 2,337

Swanscombe and Greenhithe 7,253

Wilmington 3,540

2. That the contributions be made subject to the parish and town councils 
submitting suitably analysed details of estimated net expenditure for 
the ensuing year by 31 January each year, and actual net expenditure 
for the preceding year no later than six months after the end of each 
financial year, in a format prescribed by the Council.

3. That the payments be made in two equal instalments; the first on 30 
April (or next working day) and the second, the latter of 30 September 
(or next working day) or seven days following receipt of the parish or 
town councils’ 2017/18 accounts, certified as correct by the clerk.

4. That the Council continues to operate the Capacity Building Fund and 
makes a contribution of £45,000 into the fund in 2018/19.

5. That the Managing Director, in consultation with the Leader and Deputy 
Leader of the Council, be granted delegated authority to agree the 
Capacity Building Fund bidding criteria and approval of the funds 
through a Grants Panel process.

6. That the Council make the following contributions to parish and town 
councils to compensate for lost council tax income in local areas for the 
introduction of the council tax support scheme:



CABINET
THURSDAY 7 DECEMBER 2017

10

£

Bean 445

Darenth 2,563

Longfield 842

Southfleet 265

Stone 9,361

Sutton at Hone and Hawley 2,317

Swanscombe and Greenhithe 19,246

Wilmington 1,756

86. HOMELESSNESS REVIEW 2017 

This report presented the outcomes for the Council's Homelessness Review 
2017 for approval by Cabinet. This review detailed the extent of 
homelessness in Dartford and marked the first stage of developing Dartford’s 
wider Homelessness Strategy in 2018.

The Strategic Director (External Services) noted that recommendation 2.2 
required amendment as it should have read:

That it be further noted that the Homelessness Review is the first stage 
towards development of the Council’s Homelessness Strategy 2018 
which will be presented to the General Assembly of the Council in April 
2018.

Members noted the service satisfaction information that had been presented 
in the review and asked whether it would be possible to further analyse the 
data in order to reveal whether those expressing dissatisfaction belonged to a 
particular type of family group. The Strategic Director (External Services) 
could not confirm whether the data gathered through the survey would allow it 
to be anonymously analysed in this way but said that she would investigate 
further and report back to Members.

Reference was then made to Corporate Parenting and the relationship that 
Dartford Borough Council has with organisations such as the YMCA to 
address the needs of those considered to be most vulnerable. The Strategic 
Director (External Services) confirmed that the main Corporate Parenting 
responsibility lay with Kent County Council but said that Dartford also had 
housing responsibilities. She noted how, for homeless 16/17 year olds, 
Housing worked with those that provide specialised children’s services and 
that a ‘crashpad’ service was available in Dartford if temporary 
accommodation was required. She said that the arrangements in place in 
Dartford were considered to be exemplar and described how presentations 



CABINET
THURSDAY 7 DECEMBER 2017

11

had been given to other Local Authorities and their Chief Executives so that 
similar practices might be adopted elsewhere.

RESOLVED:

1. That the contents of the Homelessness Review in Dartford, attached at 
Appendix A to the report, be noted.

2. That it be further noted that the Homelessness Review is the first stage 
towards development of the Council’s Homelessness Strategy 2018 
which will be presented to the General Assembly of the Council in April 
2018.

87. WRITE-OFF OF NATIONAL NON-DOMESTIC RATES 

This report asked Members to consider the writing-off of Non Domestic Rate 
debts where it had not been possible to obtain payment because of 
insolvency, because the ratepayer could not be traced or where the debt was 
otherwise irrecoverable

In response to a question the Strategic Director (Internal Services) confirmed 
that the cost of this write-off to Dartford Borough Council would be 40% of the 
total figure.

RESOLVED:

That the sums shown in Appendix A, in the confidential part of the report, 
amounting to £122,304.24 be written off as uncollectible.

88. HOUSING BENEFIT OVERPAYMENT WRITE-OFF 

This report asked Members to consider the writing-off of Housing Benefit 
overpayments where recovery was prohibited, was not considered 
appropriate or where the customer had absconded.

RESOLVED:

That the sum of £17,868.87, shown in Appendix A on the closed part of the 
agenda, be written off as irrecoverable.

89. REVENUE BUDGET MONITORING 2017/18 - PROJECTED OUTTURN AND 
2018/19 BUDGET PROCESS 

This report notified Members of the Projected Outturn on the General Fund 
and the Housing Revenue Account, with the reasons for significant variances. 
It also informed Members of, and sought approval for, the budget setting 
process for 2018/19.

Members welcomed the good financial management that was taking place to 
ensure that the overall predicted levels of spending for 2017/18 were being 



CABINET
THURSDAY 7 DECEMBER 2017

12

met, but also noted the increased pressures on the revenue budget that were 
likely to be experienced in future years.

RESOLVED:

1. That the projected outturn position for the General Fund and the 
Housing Revenue Account be noted.

2. That the Managing Director be granted delegated authority to 
determine and publish the 2018/19 draft budget, in consultation with 
the Leader and the Finance Portfolio Holder, prior to the budget being 
presented to the General Assembly of the Council for approval in 
February 2018.

90. CAPITAL PROGRAMME BUDGET MONITORING 2017/18 - PROGRESS 
AND PROJECTED OUTTURN 

This report informed Cabinet of the progress to date on the projects which 
make up the approved Capital Budget and reported the latest position on 
capital resources.

RESOLVED:

That the progress made to date on the 2017/18 Capital Programme be noted.

91. CORPORATE PLAN - KEY ACTIONS AND PERFORMANCE INDICATORS 
MONITORING REPORT 

This report described the progress being made with latest set of Corporate 
Plan key actions and performance indicators for quarters 1 and 2 of 2017-18.

RESOLVED:

That the contents of the key action and performance indicator monitoring 
reports, attached at Appendices A and B to the report, be noted.

92. DARTFORD BOROUGH COUNCIL GREENHOUSE GAS EMISSIONS 
REPORT 2016/17 

This report set out the Council’s Greenhouse Gas Emissions Report for 
2016/17 and described the progress being made by the Council in reducing 
Greenhouse Gas emissions.

RESOLVED:

That the contents of the Greenhouse Gas Emissions Report 2016/17, 
attached at Appendix A to the report, be noted.



CABINET
THURSDAY 7 DECEMBER 2017

13

93. MINUTES OF THE POLICY OVERVIEW MEETING HELD ON 19 
SEPTEMBER 2017 

This report presented to Cabinet the minutes of the meeting of the Policy 
Overview Committee held on 19 September 2017.

RESOLVED:

That the minutes of the Policy Overview Committee meeting held on 19 
September 2017 be noted.

94. CHANGES TO PROVISION OF HR AND PAYROLL SERVICES - EXEMPT 
APPENDIX A
(EXEMPT CATEGORY SO 46 (1) (B) ANNEX 1 PARAGRAPH 3) 

RESOLVED:

That, following discussion of the main report (minute 81), the appendix be 
noted.

95. WRITE-OFF OF NATIONAL NON-DOMESTIC RATES - EXEMPT 
APPENDIX A
(EXEMPT CATEGORY SO 46 (1) (B) ANNEX 1 PARAGRAPH 3) 

RESOLVED:

That, following discussion of the main report (minute 87), the appendix be 
noted.

96. HOUSING BENEFIT OVERPAYMENT WRITE-OFFS - EXEMPT APPENDIX 
A
(EXEMPT CATEGORY SO 46 (1) (B) ANNEX 1 PARAGRAPHS 1 AND 3) 

RESOLVED:

That, following discussion of the main report (minute 88), the appendix be 
noted.

The meeting closed at 8.12 pm

Councillor J A Kite, MBE
CHAIRMAN





1

DARTFORD BOROUGH COUNCIL

CABINET

MINUTES of the meeting of the Cabinet held on Thursday 25 January 2018 at 7.00 
pm 

PRESENT: Councillor J A Kite, MBE (Chairman)
Councillor C J Shippam (Vice-Chairman)
Councillor Mrs A D Allen, MBE
Councillor P F Coleman
Councillor K M Kelly
Councillor A R Lloyd
Councillor Mrs P A Thurlow

ALSO PRESENT: Councillor D E Hunnisett

97. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

There were no apologies for absence.

98. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

There were no declarations of interest.

99. CONFIRMATION OF THE MINUTES OF THE MEETING HELD ON 7 
DECEMBER 2017 

RESOLVED:

That the minutes of the Cabinet meeting held on 7 December 2017 be 
confirmed.

100. URGENT ITEMS 

There were no urgent items.

101. TO RECEIVE THE MINUTES OF THE CABINET ADVISORY PANEL HELD 
ON 22 JANUARY 2018 

The Cabinet received the minutes of the Cabinet Advisory Panel held on 22 
January 2018 and took note of the Panel’s views throughout the meeting.

102. REFERENCES FROM COMMITTEES 

There were no references from other committees.

103. CONSULTATION BY MAYOR OF LONDON: DRAFT LONDON PLAN 

This report was produced in response to a consultation on a new London Plan 
by the Mayor of London. This new London Plan had been drafted to introduce 
new strategic planning policies, including targets for increased house building, 
and policies related to the relationship between development and 



CABINET
THURSDAY 25 JANUARY 2018

2

infrastructure within Greater London and the surrounding ‘wider south east’ 
regions.

The Head of Regeneration referred to the impact that the Plan would have on 
Dartford and said that they welcomed the proposed increased levels of 
collaboration and noted that associated meetings were already being 
arranged and held. She said that the London Mayor was not intending to force 
Local Authorities outside London to accommodate some of London’s housing 
need, but was looking to work with willing partners outside London to deliver 
the identified levels of housing required. She said that the Plan anticipated 
that London would largely be able to meet its housing need within its 
boundary but noted that the housing targets set out in the Plan were 1000 
homes a year less than had been forecast as being required. She then said 
that the proposed approach to meeting housing delivery through an emphasis 
on small sites raised issues. She said that the cumulative increases in 
population growth through small site development can cause issues when 
identifying sites for supporting infrastructure (e.g. new schools). This creates 
direct impacts for Dartford when the population growth, without supporting 
infrastructure, is close to the Dartford’s boundary (i.e. in Bexley).

The Head of Regeneration then drew Members’ attention to the proposed 
response to the Plan’s Green Belt related policy and the fact that London 
Boroughs were being given no flexibility to consider the de-designation of 
Green Belt areas when considering how to meet future housing need through 
their Local Plan preparation. She said that there was a risk may that they may 
not be able to meet their housing targets, leading to pressure on other Green 
Belt areas in the South East outside London to address this unmet need. She 
noted how this went against National Policy which stated that Green Belt 
boundaries should be reviewed whenever a Local Authority’s Local Plan is 
reviewed. The Chairman questioned the way that this response had been 
worded and asked that it be revised to ask that London Boroughs be required 
to follow National Policy and consider Green Belt boundaries when preparing 
or reviewing their Local Plans.

The Head of Regeneration then noted how consideration of the Plan by the 
wider South East was still ongoing and said that it may be necessary to revise 
the proposed response further if other areas of concern or interest are 
identified.

Members echoed the concern expressed relating to the development of small 
sites and referred to the number of residents from Bexley who make use of 
Dartford’s schools and medical facilities and the associated impact that their 
traffic movements have on congestion and parking availability.

With the Chairman’s permission the Chairman of Development Control Board, 
who was present at the meeting, asked how differences between National 
Policy and those defined within the London Plan would be addressed. The 
Head of Regeneration replied that the Plan would be subject to public 
examination and anticipated that the Inspector would focus on any areas of 
conflict.



CABINET
THURSDAY 25 JANUARY 2018

3

In response to a question on the London Mayor’s ability to comment on 
Dartford’s Local Plan, and the fact that he should only do this judiciously and 
with restraint, the Head of Regeneration advised that the London Mayor had 
prepared his own housing need related technical evidence for the whole 
country and would be referring to this data, rather than the Government’s 
housing need data, when reviewing the Local Plans of other Local Authorities. 
She said that this could cause him to raise objections on housing targets 
when they did not accord with his own methodology and evidence. Members 
hoped that the Inspector would identify where the data being used for a 
particular argument conflicted with Government provided data and disregard 
any associated comments accordingly.

Members agreed the proposed changes to the draft response and endorsed 
the Managing Director’s proposal that the Leader be added as a consultee 
when the response is finalised.

RESOLVED:

That a response be submitted by the Head of Regeneration, in consultation 
with the Leader and the Chairman of Development Control Board, based on 
the draft response set out in Appendix A to the report, as amended by the 
above minute.

104. DRAFT BETTER CARE FUND DISCRETIONARY ASSISTANCE POLICY 

The Better Care Fund allows discretionary financial assistance to be provided 
by a Local Authority to enable residents to leave hospital and return to a 
suitable home environment; thus reducing bed blocking. Dartford Borough 
Council receives Better Care Funding from the Government to enable it to 
assist vulnerable client groups. This report provided examples of real life 
scenarios, and proposed a draft Better Care Fund Discretionary Assistance 
Policy that will assist this client group, by allowing the Council to fully utilise its 
Better Care Funding. The Policy was also aimed at preventing 
admissions/readmissions to hospital by providing funding to eligible 
households for, for example, essential repairs or heating installation, which, if 
not carried out, may have a detrimental impact on their health and wellbeing.

The Strategic Director (External Services) noted how the report had also 
asked that the Discretionary Assistance Grant threshold of £5,000, which had 
previously been agreed when an associated report had been considered by 
Cabinet in July 2017, be increased to £7500; and that it also gave her 
delegated authority to make further in-year amendments if considered 
necessary. She also referred to the Cabinet Advisory Panel’s expressions of 
support for the scheme and highlighted the offers that had been made by 
members of the Panel to help promote and publicise the availability of the 
scheme.

Members welcomed the assistance that this scheme would provide and 
endorsed the report’s recommendations.



CABINET
THURSDAY 25 JANUARY 2018

4

RESOLVED:

1. That the draft Better Care Fund Discretionary Assistance Policy, 
attached at Appendix A to the report, be approved.

2. That, for the reasons outlined in paragraph 3.3. of the report, an 
increase in the current Discretionary Assistance Grant from £5000 to 
£7500 be approved as the maximum assistance available per approved 
application. 

3. That the Strategic Director (External Services) be granted delegated 
authority to make in-year amendments to the approved Better Care 
Fund Discretionary Assistance Policy, as necessary.

105. REVIEW OF DISCRETIONARY LOCAL BUSINESS RATES RELIEF 
SCHEME 

This report asked Members to review and approve changes to Dartford’s 
Discretionary Local Business Rates Relief Scheme.

The Strategic Director (Internal Services) explained how the Government had 
provided additional funding in March 2017 to help those businesses adversely 
affected by the business rate revaluation exercise but said that only a small 
proportion of the funding available to Dartford businesses had been 
distributed to date due to the low number of applications that had been 
received. She said that, as the Government was keen to see that all of the 
funding is distributed, the report proposed that the maximum relief percentage 
available for 2017/18 to 2020/21 be increased, and that automatic 
applications are submitted for those businesses that are thought to be eligible 
for this and future years.

In response to a question the Strategic Director (Internal Services) said that 
the criteria defined in the Council’s guidelines, which were attached at 
Appendix A to the report, enabled them to identify those businesses that may 
be eligible for the scheme. She also noted how other Local Authorities had 
been experiencing difficulties when attempting to fully distribute the funding 
available.

Members approved the proposed changes to the scheme but also noted how 
the level of relief being made available tapered off in future years.

RESOLVED:

1. That the proposed increase to the maximum percentage relief available 
for 2017/18 to 2020/21 be approved, and the ability for it to be 
retrospectively applied to existing recipients be allowed.

2. That the proposal to make automatic awards for 2017/18 (subject to a 
State Aid declaration) to potential recipients who have not yet claimed 
be approved.



CABINET
THURSDAY 25 JANUARY 2018

5

3. That the proposal to apply relief automatically for 2018/19 to 2020/21 
(subject to a State Aid declaration) be approved.

4. That delegated authority be given to the S151 officer to amend the 
scheme in future years to ensure relief is properly targeted and fully 
utilised for the benefit of ratepayers.

106. NATIONAL NON-DOMESTIC DISCRETIONARY RATE RELIEF 2018/19 

This report asked Members to consider granting discretionary rate relief to 
ratepayers who have made applications in respect of 2018/19.

RESOLVED:

That the level of discretionary rate relief for 2018/19, for the organisations 
listed in Appendix A to the report, be determined in accordance with the 
detailed recommendations set out in that Appendix.

107. PARKING CONSULTATION: LONGFIELD WARD 

Some of the residents of Kent Road and Essex Road, Longfield had reported 
numerous parking related issues. The Council therefore undertook a number 
of consultations on proposals for managing the reported issues culminating in 
a statutory consultation. This report summarised the results of the statutory 
consultation and asked that a number of associated traffic regulation orders 
be approved for implementation.

Having noted the comments that had been made when this item had been 
considered by the Cabinet Advisory Panel the Chairman confirmed with the 
Monitoring Officer that he would not be required to declare a prejudicial 
interest in this item.

The Chairman referred to the Cabinet Advisory Panel’s consideration of the 
process that has to be followed when the potential need for a parking 
management scheme is identified by residents and noted how, since 2012 
when they had resolved to cease the routine introduction of new parking 
controls, each resident driven request had been queued and considered on a 
case by case basis to assess priorities. He then noted how they had 
attempted to deliver 2 schemes a year if possible and said that the scheme in 
the area around Cranford Road, which had been referred to during the debate 
that had taken place at the Cabinet Advisory Panel, had been progressed 
following representations that had been received from both residents and 
local ward Councillors. He then noted how the Council’s resources were now 
being focused on the regeneration of the Town Centre but said that, if 
alternative funding sources could be identified, then outside independent 
experienced consultants could be engaged to bring further parking 
management schemes forward for consideration.

The Chairman then highlighted how Cabinet had been required to apply 
discretion to a number of previous parking schemes because the response 
rate to proposals varied according to the availability of off street parking.  He 



CABINET
THURSDAY 25 JANUARY 2018

6

said that this could lead to greatly differing response rates within parts of the 
same road and that Cabinet needed to take into account the needs of those 
with no parking.  He also noted how this scheme was being specifically 
introduced to address the problems caused by commuter parking not directly 
connected with local residents. He then expressed the view that the 
introduction of parking controls by Gravesham Borough Council around 
Meopham and Sole Street stations may have encouraged commuters to drive 
to, and park in, Longfield before commuting to London.

Members welcomed and endorsed the proposed scheme but asked whether 
displacement could potentially lead to future parking problems in other areas, 
such as around Farningham Road station. The Chairman agreed that 
displacement parking could always lead to problems in other roads but 
thought that the reduced level of service available from Farningham Road 
station may discourage commuters from using that station as an alternative 
starting point.

RESOLVED:

1. That the making of the traffic regulation order in accordance with 
paragraph 3.6 of the report and the implementation of the scheme, be 
approved.

2. That households within the consultation areas be informed of the 
consultation outcome and the applicable installations, subject to the 
traffic regulation order making process.

108. CALENDAR OF MEETINGS OF THE GENERAL ASSEMBLY OF THE 
COUNCIL, CABINET, COMMITTEES AND BOARDS 

This report sought Members’ views on the proposed calendar of meetings for 
2018/19 and the provisional calendar for 2019/20.

RESOLVED:

That the proposed calendar of meetings for 2018/19 and the provisional 
calendar of meetings for 2019/20 be submitted to the Annual Meeting of the 
Council.

The meeting closed at 7.39 pm

Councillor J A Kite, MBE
CHAIRMAN


	Agenda
	4 Minutes
	Minutes Public Pack, 26/02/2018 General Assembly of the Council (Budget)
	Minutes


	11 Data Protection Officer Appointment
	12 Reserved Minutes
	Minutes , 25/01/2018 Cabinet


